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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

JOSEF ROBINSON,

Plaintiff,
Civil No.

V.

DIGNITY HEALTH d/b/a CHANDLER
REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,

Defendant.
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COMPLAINT

1. This is a civil rights complaint for sex discrimination in violation of Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000¢, et seq. (“Title VII”"), and the Patient Protection
and Affordable Care Act § 1557, 42 U.S.C. § 18116 (“Section 15577).

2. Dignity Health owns and operates the fifth largest health care system in the
United States. It provides health benefits to its employees through a self-funded plan (the
“Dignity Health Plan”).

3. The Dignity Health Plan singles out transgender employees for unequal treatment
by categorically depriving them of all medical care for gender dysphoria, a serious medical
condition codified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V) and
International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10).

4. In the past, public and private insurance companies excluded coverage for gender
dysphoria based on the erroneous assumption that such treatments were cosmetic or
experimental. Today, however, it is widely recognized that such exclusions have no basis in
medical science.

5. Plaintiff Josef Robinson is an employee of Dignity Health who works at Dignity
Health’s Chandler Regional Medical Center. As a result of the categorical exclusion in the
Dignity Health Plan, Mr. Robinson has been forced to pay thousands of dollars out of pocket in
order to obtain medically necessary care for gender dysphoria, and he has had to forego some
medically necessary care entirely.

6. The explicit and categorical exclusion of care for gender dysphoria discriminates
against Mr. Robinson and other transgender employees on the basis of sex, in violation of Title
VIl and Section 1557.

7. Mr. Robinson brings this action against Dignity Health d/b/a Chandler Regional
Medical Center seeking declaratory and injunctive relief and damages caused by the

discriminatory denial of medically necessary care.
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JURISDICTION

8. This action arises under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 8§
2000e et seq. (“Title VII”), and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act § 1557, 42 U.S.C.
§ 18116 (“Section 1557”).

9. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article 111 of the United States
Constitution; 28 U.S.C. 88 1331, 1343; and 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3).

10. Declaratory relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. 88 2201 and 2202.

11.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant’s
corporate headquarters is located in this District.

VENUE

12.  Venue lies with this Court pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3) because the
unlawful employment practice was committed at Dignity Health’s corporate headquarters in San
Francisco and employment records relevant to such practice are maintained and administered at
Dignity Health’s corporate headquarters in San Francisco.

13.  Venue also lies with this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§88 1391(b)(1), 1391(b)(2)
because Defendant resides in this District, and a substantial part of the events or omissions
giving rise to the claim occurred at Dignity Health’s corporate headquarters in San Francisco.

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

14.  This action arises in the San Francisco Division because a substantial part of the
events or omissions which give rise to the claim occurred at Dignity Health’s corporate
headquarters in San Francisco.

PARTIES

15. Plaintiff Josef Robinson resides in Chandler, Arizona.

16.  Dignity Health is a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of California.
Its corporate headquarters is located in San Francisco, California.

17.  Dignity Health does business in Chandler, Arizona as the Dignity Health

Chandler Regional Medical Center.
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EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

18.  On December 3, 2015, Plaintiff timely filed a charge with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission against Dignity Health for sex discrimination in violation of Title VII.

19. On February 2, 2016, Plaintiff filed an amended charge.

20.  On May 12, 2016, the EEOC issued a determination finding reasonable cause to
believe that the Dignity Health Plan discriminates against Mr. Robinson on the basis of sex by
excluding all treatments for gender dysphoria from health care coverage in violation of Title VII.
(Exhibit A.)

21.  On May 16, 2016, the EEOC issued a right-to-sue letter to Plaintiff. (Exhibit B.)

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

22. Mr. Robinson is a man who is transgender. That means that he was assigned the
sex of female at birth, but his gender identity is male and he identifies as a man.

23.  “Gender identity” is a well-established medical concept, referring to one’s sense
of oneself as belonging to a particular gender. Typically, people who are designated female at
birth based on their external anatomy identify as girls or women, and people who are designated
male at birth identify as boys or men. For transgender individuals, however, the sense of one’s
self—one’s gender identity—differs from the sex assigned to them at birth. Transgender men
are men who were assigned “female” at birth, but have a male gender identity. Transgender
women are women who were assigned “male” at birth, but have a female gender identity.

24.  The medical diagnosis for the feeling of incongruence beyond one’s gender
identity and one’s sex assigned at birth, and the resulting distress caused by that incongruence, is
“gender dysphoria” (previously known as “gender identity disorder”). Gender dysphoria is a
serious medical condition codified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
(DSM-V) and International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10). The criteria for diagnosing
gender dysphoria are set forth in the DSM-V (302.85).

25.  The widely accepted standards of care for treating gender dysphoria are published

by the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (“WPATH”). The WPATH

COMPLAINT 3




© 00 ~N o o b~ W N

N NN RN N NN N DN P B R R R R R R R
0 N o O B~ WO N P O © 0 N oo 0o~ W N P O

Case 4:16-cv-03035-YGR  Document1 Filed 06/06/16 Page 5 of 12

Standards of Care have been recognized as the authoritative standards of care by the leading
medical organizations, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, and federal courts.

26. Under the WPATH standards, medically necessary treatment for gender dysphoria
may require medical steps to affirm one’s gender identity and help an individual transition from
living as one gender to another. This treatment, often referred to as transition-related care, may
include hormone therapy, surgery (sometimes called “sex reassignment surgery”), and other
medical services that align individuals’ bodies with their gender identities. The exact medical
treatment varies based on the individualized needs of the person.

27.  According to every major medical organization and the overwhelming consensus
among medical experts, treatments for gender dysphoria, including surgical procedures, are
effective, safe, and medically necessary when clinically indicated to alleviate gender dysphoria.

28. In the past, public and private insurance companies excluded coverage for
transition-related care based on the erroneous assumption that such treatments were cosmetic or
experimental. Today, however, the medical consensus recognizes that such discriminatory
exclusions of transition-related healthcare have no basis in medical science.

Dignity Health Plan’s Categorical Exclusion of Coverage

29. Dignity Health owns and operates the fifth largest health care system in the
United States.

30.  Since January 2014, and at all times relevant to this Complaint, Mr. Robinson has
been an employee of Dignity Health, working as a nurse at the Dignity Health Chandler Regional
Medical Center.

31. Dignity Health provides health care coverage to employees, including Mr.
Robinson, through a self-funded plan administered by United Medical Resources (“UMR”),
which is a fully owned subsidiary of United Healthcare.

32.  The health plan offered to employees at Chandler Regional Medical Center is the

Dignity Health Arizona Preferred Plan (“Dignity Health Plan™). (Exhibit C.)
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33.  The Dignity Health Plan has a categorical exclusion of “Treatment, drugs,
medicines, services and supplies for, or leading to, sex transformation surgery.” (Exhibit C at
63.)

34. United Healthcare has adopted policy guidelines for coverage of medically
necessary treatments for gender dysphoria in accordance with the WPATH Standards of Care,
including, inter alia, continuous hormone replacement therapy, complete hysterectomy,
orchiectomy, penectomy, vaginoplasty, vaginectomy, clitoroplasty, labiaplasty, salpingo-
oophorectomy, metoidioplasty, scrotoplasty, urethroplasty, placement of testicular prosthesis,
phalloplasty, thyroid chondroplasty, bilateral mastectomy, and augmentation mammoplasty. See
United Healthcare Coverage Determination Guideline CDG.011.05: Gender Dysphoria (Gender
Identity Disorder) Treatment (Oct. 1, 2015),
https://www.unitedhealthcareonline.com/ccmcontent/Providerll/UHC/en-
US/Assets/ProviderStaticFiles/ProviderStaticFilesPdf/Tools%20and%20Resources/Policies%20a
nd%20Protocols/Medical%20Policies/Medical%20Policies/Gender_Identity Disorder_CD.pdf.

35. Because the Dignity Health Plan categorically excludes all coverage related to
“sex transformation surgery,” the Dignity Health Plan does not cover any of the medically
necessary treatments for gender dysphoria that would be covered as medically necessary under
United Healthcare’s coverage determination guidelines.

Denial of Medically Necessary Care

36.  Asaresult of the Dignity Health Plan’s categorical exclusion of coverage related
to “sex transformation surgery,” Mr. Robinson has been denied coverage for medically necessary
treatments for gender dysphoria that were prescribed to him in accordance with the WPATH
Standards of Care.

37.  Asaresult of the Dignity Health Plan’s categorical exclusion of coverage related
to “sex transformation surgery,” Mr. Robinson has been forced to pay out of pocket for
medically necessary hormone therapy to treat his gender dysphoria and will have to continue

doing so for the foreseeable future.
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38. On or around August 24, 2015, Mr. Robinson received a double mastectomy as
part of his medically necessary treatment for gender dysphoria in accordance with the WPATH
Standards of Care.

39.  Mr. Robinson attempted to obtain pre-authorization for the double mastectomy
surgery, but UMR denied coverage in letters dated June 22, 2015, and August 13, 2015, based on
the “sex transformation” exclusion in the Dignity Health Plan. (Exhibits D, E.)

40.  Asaresult, on or around August 24, 2015, Mr. Robinson paid approximately
$7,450 out of pocket for his medically necessary surgery.

41.  Mr. Robinson appealed the denial of coverage, but UMR upheld the adverse
benefit determination in a letter dated February 12, 2016. (Exhibit F.) The letter stated that the
“sex transformation” exclusion in the Dignity Health Plan “excludes all treatment related to th[e]
diagnosis” of gender dysphoria.

42. In accordance with the WPATH Standards of Care, Mr. Robinson’s medical
providers have referred him to a surgeon for medically necessary phalloplasty surgery, but Mr.
Robinson does not have sufficient funds to pay for the phalloplasty out of pocket.

43. Mr. Robinson was originally scheduled to undergo the surgery in March 2016.
Because the medically necessary phalloplasty surgery is excluded from coverage under the
Dignity Health Plan as a form of “sex transformation surgery,” Mr. Robinson was forced to
cancel the scheduled surgery and lose the money he had paid as a deposit.

Response from Dignity Health

44.  On September 24, 2015, Mr. Robinson’s fiancée, who is also an employee at
Dignity Health, emailed Dignity Health Chief Executive Officer Lloyd Dean to ask him to
remove the “sex transformation” exclusion from the Dignity Health Plan so that Mr. Robinson
could receive coverage for his medically necessary care. (Exhibit G at 4-8.)

45.  On September 24, 2015, Mr. Dean responded by email: “Thanks for sharing this
very unfortunate situation. |1 am asking our head of HR to look into this matter and to then follow

up with you. Thanks for bringing this to my attention.” (Exhibit G at 4.) Mr. Dean included
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Daryll Robinson, Dignity Health Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer,
as an email recipient.
46.  On October 26, 2015, the Chief Human Resources Officer provided the following

information to Mr. Robinson’s fiancée by email:

You have raised a unique issue that warrants more thought and review. | have spoken
with our employee benefits team as well as our policy staff. All agree that the issue you
have raised is both unique and important. Rather than provide an answer that is not
thoroughly and carefully considered from all angles, 1’d like to convene a small team of
individuals from HR, Mission, Ethics and potentially operations to discuss your situation.

(Exhibit G at 1.)
47.  On November 6, 2015, the Chief Human Resources Officer provided the

following information to Mr. Robinson’s fiancée by email:

Thank you for raising this issue for contemplation and discernment. We held our
discussion with representatives from HR Policy, Employee Benefits, Total
Rewards, Mission Integration and Ethics on Thursday morning, November 5th.
We discussed your situation through the lens of our values, our internal policy and
our ethical & religious directives. We also considered our medical plan insurance
coverages for both fully insured plans in California and self-funded plans in
Arizona and individual state requirement statutes, but we did not have an
employment attorney involved in the meeting.

With specific intent, we deliberated whether our existing policies were
discriminatory and inconsistent with our organization values as you stated in your
letter. We found no evidence of discriminatory practice in the employee benefit
plan documents, internal practice or the administration of the plan.

(Exhibit H.)

48.  After Mr. Robinson filed a charge of discrimination with the EEOC, Dignity
Health submitted a position statement responding to the charge. (Exhibit 1.) In the position
statement, Dignity Health asserted that the exclusion of healthcare for gender dysphoria was not
discriminatory because “health benefits under the Dignity plan are not provided for any
personality disorders, including sexual/gender identity disorders and behavior and impulse
control disorders.” (EXx. | at6.)

49, Contrary to the assertions in Dignity Health’s position statement, gender

dysphoria is not considered a “personality disorder” by the medical community.

COMPLAINT 7




© 00 ~N o o b~ W N

N NN RN N NN N DN P B R R R R R R R
0 N o O B~ WO N P O © 0 N oo 0o~ W N P O

Case 4:16-cv-03035-YGR Document1 Filed 06/06/16 Page 9 of 12

COUNT ONE
Violation of Title VII

50. Title VII provides that employers may not “discriminate against any individual
with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of
such individual’s . . . sex.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).

51. Dignity Health is an employer as that term is defined in Title V11, 42 U.S.C. §
2000e-(b).

52. Plaintiff is an employee of Dignity Health as that term is defined in Title VI, 42
U.S.C. 8 2000¢(f).

53.  Anemployer-sponsored health plan is part of the “compensation, terms,
conditions, or privileges of employment.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1).

54, Discrimination on the basis of transgender status or gender nonconformity is
discrimination on the basis of “sex’ under Title VII.

55. By categorically excluding all medically necessary care related to “sex
transformation surgery,” the Dignity Health Plan has drawn a classification that discriminates
based on transgender status and gender nonconformity.

56. Because the only individuals who require medically necessary care to treat gender
dysphoria are transgender individuals, denying coverage for such health care constitutes
discrimination based on transgender status. As a result of the exclusion in the Dignity Health
Plan, non-transgender employees receive coverage for all of their medically necessary
healthcare, but transgender individuals do not.

57. Because medical transition from one sex to another inherently violates gender
stereotypes, denying coverage for such health care constitutes impermissible discrimination
based on gender nonconformity.

58. By excluding all healthcare related to “sex transformation surgery” from the only

available health plan it provides to employees, Dignity Health has unlawfully discriminated
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against Mr. Robinson—and continues to unlawfully discriminate against him—abased on his sex

in violation of Title VII.

COUNT TWO
Violation of ACA § 1557

59.  Section 1557 of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act § 1557, 42 U.S.C.
8 18116 (“Section 1557”), provides that “an individual shall not, on the ground prohibited under
... title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq.)”—which prohibits
discrimination “on the basis of sex”—**be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits
of, or be subjected to discrimination under, any health program or activity, any part of which is
receiving Federal financial assistance.”

60.  Dignity Health receives federal financial assistance, and is therefore a “covered
entity” for purposes of Section 1557.

61. On May 13, 2017, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services issued a
final rule (the “Final Rule”). See Nondiscrimination in Health Programs and Activities, 81 Fed.
Reg. 31376 (May 18, 2016) (to be codified at 45 C.F.R. Part 92).

62.  The Final Rule states that a covered entity “that provides an employee health
benefit program to its employees and/or their dependents shall be liable for violations of [Section
1557] in that employee health benefit program” if “[t]he entity is principally engaged in
providing or administering health services.” 45 C.F.R. § 92.208(a).

63. Because Dignity Health is principally engaged in the business of providing health
services, Section 1557 and 45 C.F.R. § 92.208(a) prohibit Dignity Health from discriminating
against employees on the basis of sex in the terms of its employer-sponsored health care plan.

64. The Final Rule states that a covered entity “providing or administering health-
related insurance” may not “[h]ave or implement a categorical coverage exclusion or limitation

for all health services related to gender transition.” 45 C.F.R. § 92.207(b)(4).
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65. The Dignity Health Plan’s categorical exclusion for treatment related to “sex
transformation surgery” is a “categorical coverage exclusion or limitation for all health services
related to gender transition” under 45 C.F.R. § 92.207(b)(4).

66. Discrimination on the basis of transgender status or gender nonconformity is
discrimination on the basis of “sex’ under Section 1557.

67. By categorically excluding all medically necessary care related to “sex
transformation surgery,” the Dignity Health Plan has drawn a classification that discriminates
based on transgender status and gender nonconformity.

68. Because the only individuals who require medically necessary care to treat gender
dysphoria are transgender individuals, denying coverage for such health care constitutes
discrimination based on transgender status. As a result of the exclusion in the Dignity Health
Plan, non-transgender employees receive coverage for all of their medically necessary
healthcare, but transgender individuals do not.

69.  Because medical transition from one sex to another inherently violates gender
stereotypes, denying coverage for such health care constitutes impermissible discrimination
based on gender nonconformity.

70. By excluding all healthcare related to “sex transformation surgery” from the only
available health plan it provides to employees, Dignity Health has unlawfully discriminated
against Mr. Robinson—and continues to unlawfully discriminate against him—on the basis of
sex in violation of Section 1557.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court grant the
following relief:

A. Declaratory relief, including but not limited to a declaration that Defendant
violated Title VII and Section 1557;

B. Injunctive relief;

C. Compensatory and consequential damages in an amount to be determined at trial;
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d attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and

deems just and proper.

D. Punitive damages for violation of Title VI,
E. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest lawful rate;
F. Plaintiffs’ reasonable costs an
G. Such other relief as the Court
June 6, 2016

ACLU FOUNDATION OF NORTHERN
CALIFORNIA, INC.

By: /s/ Elizabeth O. Gill
Elizabeth O. Gill
Attorneys for Plaintiff Josef Robinson
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